
Form No. 10-300 ^ ^O-"1

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

SEE INSTRUCTIONS IN HOWTO COMPLETE NATIONAL REGISTER FORMS 
___________TYPE ALL ENTRIES -- COMPLETE APPLICABLE SECTIONS______

[NAME
HISTORIC

Hanchett-Bartlett Farmstead
AND/OR COMMON

Bartlett Memorial Historical Museum

LOCATION
STREET & NUMBER

2149 St. Lawrence Avenue —NOT FOR PUBLICATION
CITY. TOWN

Beloit _
STATE

Wisconsin 53511

CLASSIFICATION

CATEGORY OWNERSHIP
—DISTRICT —PUBLIC

_XBUILDING(S) KPRIVATE
—STRUCTURE —BOTH

—SITE PUBLIC ACQUISITION
—OBJECT _IN PROCESS

—BEING CONSIDERED

.VICINITY OF
CODE

55

STATUS
X-.OCCUPIED

—UNOCCUPIED

—WORK IN PROGRESS

ACCESSIBLE
X_YES: RESTRICTED

—YES: UNRESTRICTED

—NO

CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT

1st
COUNTY CODE

Rock 105

PRESENT USE
_ AGRICULTURE ^.MUSEUM

—COMMERCIAL —PARK

—EDUCATIONAL —PRIVATE RESIDENCE

—ENTERTAINMENT —RELIGIOUS

—GOVERNMENT —SCIENTIFIC

—INDUSTRIAL —TRANSPORTATION

—MILITARY —OTHER:

OWNER OF PROPERTY
NAME
_____Beloit Historical Society
STREETS. NUMBER

2149 St» Lawrence Avenue
CITY. TOWN

Beloit VICINITY OF
STATE

Wisconsin 53511
I LOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION

COURTHOUSE. 
REGISTRY OF DEEDfrETC.

Courthouse

STREET & NUMBER

51 South Main Street
CITY. TOWN

_____Janesville
STATE 

Wisconsin 53545

REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS
TITLE

Rock County Survey of Historic Sites and Buildings
DATE

1975 —FEDERAL —STATE ^.COUNTY —LOCAL

DEPOSITORY FOR
SURVEY RECORDS Rock County Historical Society
CITY. TOWN

Janesville
STATE 

Wisconsin 53545



DESCRIPTION

CONDITION

—EXCELLENT 
.XGOOD
_FAIR

—DETERIORATED

—RUINS

_UNEXPOSED

CHECK ONE

—UNALTERED 

iSL-ALTERED

CHECK ONE

X-ORIGINALSITE 

_MOVED DATE-

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
The Hanchett-Bartlett farmstead, now known as the Bartlett Memorial Historical Museum, at 
2149 St. Lawrence Avenue, consists of nine structures located on 1,875. acres, just within 
the western limits of the City of Beloit. The land itself is a slight knoll and was the 
southwest corner of a 19th century 40-acre farm which comprised the SW 1/4 of the NW 1/4 
of Section 34, Town of Beloit. This farm was originally immediately outside the city 
limits, which had encompassed the eastern half of Section 34 by 1856. At the southeastern 
corner of the farm, about 1/4 mile east of the homestead site, is a limestone quarry. This 
quarry is said to have furnished the stone for the masonry house, barn and smokehouse on 
the site, as well as for other buildings in Beloit* (A two-story building, recently used 
as a house, is still at the back of this quarry. The lower 2/3ds of its walls are lime­ 
stone. It may have been a barn or quarry storehouse.)

The Rock County Atlas of 1873 shows an orchard across the south portion of the 40-acre 
farm, up to the quarry on the southeastern side. This area is now largely filled with 
scrub trees and some small houses, but there are some apple and plum trees on the north­ 
east side of the 1.875-acre plot. The back of the nominated site is still used for agri­ 
cultural purposes as a vegetable garden, and cornfields extend to the north beyond that, 
on neighboring land, so that the land surrounding the nominated site helps to preserve 
the parcel's rural flavor*

JThe farmhouse,, most commanding building on the site, is at the southwest corner of the com­ 
plex and faces south towards the road. The front portion is a bracketed, two-storied, hip- 
roofed limestone block 28 feet wide across the front and 34.4 feet wide on its east side. i 
This block is topped by a bracketed white frame observatory or cupola with green louvered 
Palladian windows, A if-story, gable-roofed limestone wing extends 40,4 feet to the rear, 
or north. The west side of this wing is a flush extension of the west wall of the house, 
74,4'feet long without a seam in construction. The east wall of the wing is recessed about 
eight feet, but the resulting open space is now an enclosed veranda. The back gable 
features a returned cornice,

The house is in transitional Greek Revival-Italianate style,, combining straight Greek Re­ 
vival limestone lintels over the entrance and windows with, simple Italianate bracketing 
under the broad eaves. The heavy lintels are flush with the walls; the' sills project 
slightly. The facade is treated somewhat more richly than the sides, but the entire 
building presents a sober, conservative appearance,

The entrance to the 3-window front is on the left. It is recessed about two feet and 
framed by white wood panels with rounded moldings. A handsome triple-paneled door is sur­ 
rounded by sidelights and a transom. The two first story windows on the main facade are 
long 4/4 double-hung sash which extend to the water table, a structural refinement found 
only across the front. Windows on the second story front and across the sides are shorter 
6/6 double-hung sash. The cream buff limestone is varied in color with greenish overtones. 
On three sides of the house, tan mortar bands framing the random-cut limestone were employed^ 
emphasizing the horizontals. The rear wall was troweled more simply. Due to the relative 
softness of the stone, cracks have developed which have been tuck-pointed in the past, but 
much more such repair is needed. Otherwise the house is structurally sound and in fine con­ 
dition.

The interior is plastered and painted, including stenciled decorations in several rooms, 
The front two-story wing is used as a museum of Beloit history, including that of 
the Bartlett family, who were twentieth century occupants of the building. The 
front parlor, the most ornate room in the house, has a handsome ceiling plastered
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James Henry Hanchett
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
The Hanchett^Bartlett farmstead has multiple significance. First, it is important archi­ 
tecturally and agriculturally as a mid-19th century farmstead with a transitional Itali- 
anate farmhouse in fine repair and several outbuildings, including a stone barn and a 
smokehouse. Secondly, it is. important to local medical history as the longtime homestead 
of the Bartlett family. This family included three sisters who became physicians, an un­ 
usual occurrence in the early 20th century.

James Hanchett built the house and barn—"a large, handsome stone residence, with barns, 
etc./'—about 1857. A He had come to Beloit in 1840 and was a contractor and builder of 
dams. He built at least two dams in Indiana and a number on the Rock River in both Wis­ 
consin and Illinois, including the first dam across the Rock River at Beloit in 1844. In 
1856 he built Hanchett's Hall in Beloit, where Lincoln spoke in 1859 and which still 
stands. He died in 1866, but his family stayed on the farm until Mrs. Hanchett*s death 
in 1887. Their son Charles later sold the land in two parcels. In 1901 the Bartlett 
family bought the western half, which included the house, barn, and outbuildings. Herrick 
Bartlett, the father of the family, had died by this time; his children John and Lillie 
actually purchased the property.

The farmstead's associative significance in the area of medicine derives from the fact 
that three of Herrick's daughters, Mary (1869-1959), Edith (1871-1949), and Lucy Etta 
(1872-1962), after graduating from Beloit High School, took premedical training at Valpar­ 
aiso University and attended Hahnemann Medical College in Chicago, where they received 
their M.D. degrees. It is perhaps worthy of mention that the sisters traced their ances- 
to their great-great-grandfather Dr. Josiah Bartlett (1729-1795), founder of the New 
Hampshire Medical Society and a signer of the Declaration of Independence. Three of his 
sons and seven grandsons had also become doctors of medicine. Family tradition, therefore, 
may well have encouraged the Bartlett sisters of Beloit to pursue and broaden the pro­ 
fession.

Dr. Mary Bartlett practiced briefly in other Wisconsin communities, starting in Eagle in 
1899, then returned to Beloit in 1907, where she practiced until 1958, the year before 
her death. Dr. Edith, after practicing in Troy Center from 1899 to 1905, moved to Janes- 
ville, near Beloit, and continued to practice there for the rest of her life. The third 
sister, Dr. Etta Bartlett Vaughn, spent her professional life practicing out of state, 
but returned to the house in Beloit in 1957-58 and died there in 1962. Hence the close 
association of the property with the three physician-daughters of Herrick Bartlett from 
the turn of the century to the 1960's. A nephew, Martin H. Bartlett, M.D., of Alamogordo, 
New Mexico has retained ownership of approximately 18 acres of the old Bartlett farm. Dr* 
Etta Bartlett Vaughn bequeathed the nominated property to the Beloit Historical Society 
because of its status as home base for a family of three early and well-known female 
physicians. In 1965 it was designated Wisconsin Registered Landmark Number 2.

1. Portrait and Biographical Album, p. 751
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with a radiating pattern of feathered plumes. Dadoes and door mouldings are well 
preserved, as is the fine dark-grained bannister.

The enclosed veranda along the rear wing serves as the entrance to the wing, which 
now houses the offices of the_JBeJLei£ Historical^Societyjand caretaker's quarters. 
The base of this veranda is rough-cut random limestone; the body is frame and 
appears to have been enclosed around the turn of the century. About the same time, 
pedimented second-story dormers were added: three on the east side of the wing 
and one on the west side, enlarging smaller square "eyebrow" windows. In the rear 
of the house is a one-story 28* x 16* wooden wing, probably also added around 1900. 
It is used for storage and as an entry to the basement, where museum objects are 
stored. These alterations and additions do not detract from the basic character 
of the house.

'if"
On the north edge of the parcel, to the east of the house, is the stone Jbarn, a hip- 
roofed oblong block. It is 40 f 6" across the south front, 30 f 6" deep, and features 
a pair of sliding doors. The door and the trim are painted deep red. The barn 
once had two lean-to-wings of limestone, which are now demolished, but the stone is 
still piled up for possible reconstruction. The barn is now a museum of farm and 
industrial implements from the Beloit area. The hayloft has been removed but other 
interior framing remains. Windows have been walled in for security reasons.

The 9' x 6 f 9" ^mokehquse, between the house and the barn, was built of random 
limestone and roughly troweled, like the barn. It is surmounted by a pyramidal roof, 
The interior walls are blackened with smoke. The trim is painted the same deep red 
as that of the barn.

In addition to these stone buildings, there are three_Jraiiie_JbuilsiiJigs connected with 
the farm, either from the Bartlett family era in the early 20th century, or earlier. 
A 6 f 3" deep by 8 f 4"iWthouse stands in back of the house to the west. It is painted 

A white and in fair condition. Behind the house is a dilapidated shed-roof chicken 
house, 6*4" x 8'3". An unpainted jcarriage shed, 14'4" by 16 f 3", which was used as 
Dr. Mary Bartlett f s garage, is juslTsouthwest of the barn. These buildings need 
repair.

Since 1962, when the site was donated to the Beloit Historical Society, three struc­ 
tures have been added to the grounds. These are not important to the nomination. 
One is the DouganJSc^ojol, built c. 1873 and typical of the one-room schoolhouse of 
its time. Another is a* reconstruction of the 1840 BorgwaltfNicolai Roi log hoyse 
from west of Beleit. The third is a fake well which was placed east of the 
Bartlett House.
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